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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
NORFOLK DIVISION

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,
Petitioner,

V. Misc. No. 2:18mc20

MONSHAY SWAIN,
DAMILARE ADEBAYO,
GIO-CRYSTAL, LLC, and
EBDM LLC,

Respondents.

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION’S PETITION TO ENFORCE
CIVIL INVESTIGATIVE DEMAND

Pursuant to Section 20 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (FTC Act), 15 U.S.C.
8 57b-1, the Federal Trade Commission (FTC or Commission) petitions this Court for an order to
show cause, thereby initiating a proceeding to enforce four Civil Investigative Demands (CIDs)
issued to Respondents Monshay Swain, Damilare Adebayo, Gio-Crystal, LLC, and EBDM
LLC.! The CIDs seek documents and information relevant to an ongoing FTC law enforcement
investigation to determine whether Respondents or related individuals or entities may have
engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices, in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15

U.S.C. § 45. Specifically, the responses to the CIDs will help the FTC to determine if

! This is a summary proceeding that is properly instituted by a petition and order to show

cause (rather than a complaint and summons). EEOC v. American Target Advertising, Inc., 257
F.3d 348, 353 (4th Cir. 2001) (commenced with petition and “designed to be summary in
nature”); EEOC v. Maryland Cup Corp., 785 F.2d 471, 475 (4th Cir. 1986) (commenced with
petition and order to show cause). This Court has previously used such procedures in FTC CID
enforcement proceedings in this Court. See FTC v. Indivior, Inc., 3:14-mc-00005-REP (E.D.Va.
filed Aug. 8, 2014).



Case 2:18-mc-00020-MSD-LRL Document1 Filed 07/19/18 Page 2 of 8 PagelD# 2

Respondents may have been acting as “money mules,” receiving the proceeds of fraudulent or
other unlawful conduct and then transferring it to others, with corresponding profit to
themselves. The Court should enforce the CIDs because, to date, Respondents have not produced
any of the requested documents or information.

In support of the allegations of this Petition, the FTC offers the Declaration of John D.
Jacobs, which is attached hereto as Petition Exhibit (“Pet. Ex.”) 1. Additional exhibits are as
follows:

Pet. EX. 2 Civil Investigative Demand to Monshay Swain (Jan. 25, 2018);

Pet. EX. 3 Civil Investigative Demand to Damilare Adebayo (Jan. 25, 2018);

Pet. EX. 4 Civil Investigative Demand to Gio-Crystal, LLC (Jan. 25, 2018);

Pet. EX. 5 Civil Investigative Demand to EBDM LLC (Jan. 25, 2018);

Pet. EX. 6 FedEx Delivery Confirmations for CIDs (Feb. 1, 2018; Feb. 12, 2018);

Pet. EX. 7 Letters from Dominique Alepin to Monshay Swain (Mar. 6, 2018; Mar. 7,
2018);

Pet. Ex. 8 Letters from Dominique Alepin to Damilare Adebayo (Mar. 6, 2018; Mar.
7, 2018); and

Pet. EX. 9 FedEx Delivery Confirmations for March 6, 2018, Letters.
Jurisdiction and Venue
1. This Court has jurisdiction to enforce the FTC’s duly issued CIDs under Sections
20(e) and (h) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 57b-1(e) and (h). The Court also has jurisdiction under

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), and 1345.

FTC Petition to Enforce Civil Investigative Demands
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2. Venue is proper in this judicial district under Section 20(e) of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. § 57b-1(e), because Respondents reside, are found, or transact business here. Pet. Ex. 1,
11 3-6.2 Venue is also proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

The Parties

3. The FTC is an administrative agency of the United States government, organized
and existing pursuant to the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 41. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §
45(a), authorizes the FTC to “prevent . . . unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting
commerce.”

4. The FTC Act empowers the agency to investigate potential violations of the FTC
Act. Sections 3 and 6(a) of the Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 43, 46(a), authorize the Commission to conduct
investigations nationwide and to gather information on any “person, partnership, or corporation.”
15 U.S.C. 88 43, 46(a). Section 20(c) of the Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 57b-1(c), further authorizes the
Commission to issue CIDs requiring the recipients to produce documents, prepare answers to
interrogatories, and provide oral testimony under oath.

5. Monshay Swain and Damilare Adebayo are individuals who reside or transact
business in Norfolk, Virginia. Pet. Ex. 1, 3.

6. Gio-Crystal, LLC is a Virginia limited liability company with its principal office
in Norfolk, Virginia. The Articles of Organization for Gio-Crystal, LLC state that Swain is the
company’s registered agent and organizer. This document does not identify any additional
members, managers, or employees. Articles of Organization for Gio-Crystal, LLC previously

filed in Maryland listed Adebayo as the resident agent and owner, respectively. This document

2 Citations are to paragraph numbers where available or to page numbers in exhibit footers.

FTC Petition to Enforce Civil Investigative Demands
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does not identify any additional members, managers, or employees. Adebayo has publicly
identified himself as Gio-Crystal’s “Chief Operating Officer.” Pet. Ex. 1, 4.

7. EBDM LLC is a Virginia limited liability company with its principal office in
Norfolk, Virginia. Virginia State Corporation Commission documents for EBDM state that
Swain is the company’s registered agent. These documents do not identify any additional
members, managers, or employees. Pet. Ex. 1, { 5.

The Investigation and Respondents’ Noncompliance

8. In 2017, the FTC received information indicating that Respondents may have
been receiving the proceeds of potentially unlawful practices targeting individual consumers.®
This information indicated that Respondents, after receiving the proceeds of “unfair or deceptive
acts or practices” in violation of the FTC Act, may have transferred portions of such funds to
third parties, often overseas. In response, the FTC opened an investigation to determine whether
Respondents or related persons or entities may have engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or
practices, in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45, and whether an action to
obtain monetary equitable relief for consumers would be in the public interest. Pet. Ex. 1, 1 1, 7.

9. On January 25, 2018, the Commission issued four CIDs — one to each of
Respondents — under the authority of omnibus FTC Resolution 9923259. The Resolution

authorizes the use of compulsory process, including CIDs,

8 The underlying practices included “business email compromise schemes” and “romance

scams.” As an example of a “business email compromise scheme,” the accountant of a small
business receives an email that purports to be from the business owner directing the accountant
to transfer money to a specific account. In fact, the owner’s email had been hacked, the owner
never authorized the payment, and, after the accountant made the transfer as directed, the money
was quickly transferred out of the recipient’s account. A “romance scam” typically involves
individuals who are tricked into sending payments to other individuals who purport to be their
romantic partners. These deceptive practices can be combined in ways that make tracing these
payments difficult.

FTC Petition to Enforce Civil Investigative Demands
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[t]Jo determine whether unnamed persons, partnerships or corporations have been

or are engaged in the deceptive or unfair use of e-mail, metatags, computer code or

programs, or deceptive or unfair practices involving Internet-related goods or

services, in violation of Sections 5 or 12 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15

U.S.C. §§ 45, 52, as amended.

See, e.g., Pet. Ex. 2 at 14; Pet. Ex. 3 at 14.

10.  The FTC issued the CIDs in accordance with the procedures set forth in the FTC
Act and the corresponding Rules of Practice. See 15 U.S.C. § 57b-1(c)(2), (c)(3), (c)(6), (c)(7),
(i) and 16 C.F.R. 8§ 2.6, 2.7(a), (b). Pet. Ex. 1, 1 9.

11.  The CIDs issued to Swain and Adebayo were virtually identical in substance.
They required the recipients to produce five categories of documents by February 27, 2018. Pet.
Ex. 2 at 7-8; Pet. Ex. 3 at 7-8. They also directed the recipients to appear and give oral testimony
in an investigational hearing on March 13, 2018, in Norfolk, Virginia. Pet. Ex. 2 at 3; Pet. Ex. 3
at 3.

12.  The CIDs issued to Gio-Crystal, LLC and EBDM LLC were virtually identical in
substance. They required the recipients to produce seven categories of documents by February
27, 2018. Pet. EX. 4 at 6-8; Pet. EX. 5 at 6-8. These CIDs did not include a request for testimony.

13.  The documents and information demanded in the CIDs require routine
information relating to Respondents’ finances and business structure. They also request detailed
information about their receipt and transmission of funds and their communications with those
individuals and entities who may have sent or received such funds. The documents and
information sought are important to the FTC’s investigation because they are likely to uncover
the names of potential witnesses and assist the FTC in determining whether Respondents may

have participated in unfair or deceptive practices in violation of the FTC Act. Pet. Ex. 1, 11 12,

15.

FTC Petition to Enforce Civil Investigative Demands
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14.  The CIDs issued to Swain and Adebayo were served on February 1, 2018, by
FedEx delivery to an address known to be their residence or principal office or place of business
in Norfolk, Virginia. Pet. Ex. 1, 1 13; Pet. EX. 6 at 1-4; see also 15 U.S.C. 8 57b-1(c)(9)
(permitting service of a CID upon a natural person by delivering a copy to the person or mailing
to “his residence or principal office or place of business”). The CID issued to Gio-Crystal, LLC
was served on February 1, 2018, by FedEx delivery to its principal office in Norfolk, Virginia.
Pet. Ex. 1, 1 16; Pet. Ex. 6 at 5-6; see also 15 U.S.C. § 57b-1(c)(8)(B) (permitting service of a
CID upon a corporation by delivering a copy to the “principal office or place of business”). The
CID issued to EBDM LLC was initially returned as undeliverable, but on February 12, 2018,
FedEx delivered it to Swain, EBDM’s registered agent, at her address in Norfolk, Virginia. Pet.
Ex. 1, § 17; Pet. Ex. 6 at 7-8; see also 15 U.S.C. § 57b-1(c)(8)(A) (permitting service of a CID
upon a corporation by delivering a copy to the corporation’s “agent”).

15. During a February 12, 2018, telephone call with FTC staff, Swain acknowledged
that she had received her CID as well as the one and the one sent to EBDM LLC. Swain also told
staff that Adebayo was aware of the CIDs, but that he was not willing to speak by phone. Pet.
Ex. 1, 11 18-19.

16. Despite multiple phone calls and letters from FTC staff, the FTC has not received
any other communications from Respondents. On March 13, 2018, Swain and Adebayo failed to
appear for investigational hearings that were scheduled for that date. Pet. Ex. 1, 1 21-22. To
date, the FTC has not received any of the documents or information required by the CIDs.
Respondents have not availed themselves of the FTC’s administrative remedy by petitioning the

Commission to limit or quash the CIDs. Pet. Ex. 1, { 24; see also 15 U.S.C. § 57b-1(f)

FTC Petition to Enforce Civil Investigative Demands
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(providing for a CID recipient to file a petition to modify or set aside a CID); 16 C.F.R. § 2.10
(same).

17.  The Respondents’ failure to comply with the January 25, 2018 CIDs has impeded
the FTC’s ongoing investigation. Pet. Ex. 1, { 25. Therefore, the FTC respectfully requests that
this Court issue an order to show cause and enforce the CIDs by issuing its own order directing
Respondents to produce the demanded documents and appear and provide testimony in FTC
investigational hearings.

18. No previous application for the relief sought herein has been made.

Prayer for Relief

WHEREFORE, the FTC invokes the aid of this Court and prays for:

a) The immediate issuance of an order directing Respondents to appear and show

cause why Respondents should not comply in full with the CIDs;

b) A prompt determination of this matter and entry of an order compelling

Respondents to:
I. Produce the documents specified in the January 25, 2018, CIDs within 10
days of such order; and
ii. Appear and give oral testimony in an investigational hearing at a date,
time, and place to be determined by the Federal Trade Commission;

C) Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

FTC Petition to Enforce Civil Investigative Demands
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Dated: July 18, 2018

By:

Respectfully submitted,

ALDEN F. ABBOTT
General Counsel

LESLIE RICE MELMAN
Assistant General Counsel for Litigation

BURKE W. KAPPLER
JONATHAN HILL

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
600 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W.
Washington, DC 20580

Tel.: (202) 326-2043

Fax: (202) 326-2477

Email: bkappler@ftc.gov

G. ZACHARY TERWILLIGER
United States Attorney

/sl Clare P. Wuerker

Clare P. Wuerker

Assistant United States Attorney
Virginia Bar No. 79236

United States Attorney’s Office

101 West Main Street, Suite 8000
Norfolk, VA 23510

Telephone - 757-441-6331
Facsimile - 757-441-6689

E-Mail - Clare. Wuerker@usdoj.gov

Attorneys for the United States

FTC Petition to Enforce Civil Investigative Demands
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Petition Exhibit 1

Declaration of John D. Jacobs

(July 18, 2018)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,
Petitioner,

V. Misc. No.

MONSHAY SWAIN,
DAMILARE ADEBAYO,
GIO-CRYSTAL, LLC, and
EBDM LLC,

Respondents.

N N N N N N N N N N N N N

DECLARATION OF JOHN D. JACOBS

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1746, | declare as follows:

1. | am an attorney employed by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (FTC or
Commission), in the FTC’s Western Region in Los Angeles. | am assigned to the FTC’s
investigation relating to Monshay Swain, Damilare Adebayo, and their apparent corporate alter
egos, Gio-Crystal, LLC and EBDM LLC (FTC File No. 1723080). The purpose of the
investigation is to determine whether the Respondents or associated persons or entities have
engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices, in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. 8 45. Specifically, the FTC seeks to determine
whether, among other things, the Respondents serve as “money mules,” receiving the proceeds
of fraudulent or other wrongful conduct, taking a portion of those proceeds for themselves, and
then forwarding the remainder to third parties, potentially overseas.

2. | am authorized to execute a declaration verifying the facts that are set forth in the

Federal Trade Commission’s Petition to Enforce Civil Investigative Demand. | have read the
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Petition, and exhibits thereto (hereinafter referred to as Pet. Ex.), and verify that Pet. Ex. 2
through Pet. Ex. 9 are true and correct copies of the original documents. The facts set forth
herein are based on my personal knowledge or information made known to me in the course of
my official duties.

3. Monshay Swain and Damilare Adebayo are individuals. During the course of my
investigation, | determined that they reside, can be found, or transact business in Norfolk,
Virginia.

4, Gio-Crystal, LLC is a Virginia limited liability company. Gio-Crystal’s Articles
of Organization identify its principal office in Norfolk, Virginia, and list Swain as its registered
agent and organizer. The document does not identify any additional members, managers, or
employees. Previously, Gio-Crystal was formed as a Maryland limited liability company with
Avrticles of Organization that listed Adebayo as the resident agent and owner, respectively. This
document does not identify any additional members, managers, or employees. | understand that
Adebayo has, as recently as April 2018, held himself out publicly as the “Chief Operating
Officer” of Gio-Crystal, LLC in Norfolk, Virginia.

5. EBDM LLC is also a Virginia limited liability company. Virginia State
Corporation Commission records show EBDM’s principal office is in Norfolk, Virginia, and list
Swain as its registered agent. The documents do not identify any additional members, managers,

or employees.

6. Swain and Adebayo are signatories on several bank accounts held by Gio-Crystal
and EBDM.
7. In 2017, FTC staff obtained information, including but not limited to consumer

complaints, indicating that the victims of fraudulent conduct such as romance scams and

FTC Petition, Exhibit 1
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business email compromise schemes had sent funds to Gio-Crystal and EBDM. This information
also showed that Gio-Crystal and EBDM had transferred much of these funds to third parties,
often overseas. As a result, the FTC opened an investigation to determine if Gio-Crystal or others
had engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices, in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. § 45.

8. On January 25, 2018, the Commission issued four Civil Investigative Demands
(CIDs) to Swain, Adebayo, Gio-Crystal, and EBDM, under the authority of FTC Resolution
9923259, which authorizes the use of compulsory process, including CIDs,

[tJo determine whether unnamed persons, partnerships or corporations have been

or are engaged in the deceptive or unfair use of e-mail, metatags, computer code

or programs, or deceptive or unfair practices involving Internet-related goods or

services, in violation of Sections 5 or 12 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15

U.S.C. 88 45, 52, as amended.

See, e.g., Pet. Ex. 2 at 14.

0. In issuing the CIDs, the Commission followed all the procedures and
requirements of the FTC Act and its Rules of Practice and Procedure. See, e.g., 15 U.S.C. 8§
57b-1(c)(2), (c)(3), (c)(6), (c)(7); 16 C.F.R. 88 2.6, 2.7. The CIDs were properly signed by then-
Acting Chairman Maureen K. Ohlhausen pursuant to the resolution, as required by Section 20 of

the FTC Act. See, e.g., Pet. Ex. 2 at 3; see also 15 U.S.C. § 57b-1(i); 16 C.F.R. § 2.7(a).

The CIDs to Monshay Swain & Damilare Adebayo

10. The CIDs that were issued to Monshay Swain (Pet. Ex. 2) and Damilare Adebayo
(Pet. Ex. 3) were virtually identical in substance. Each CID required the recipient to produce five

categories of documents by February 27, 2018, including, but not limited to, the following:

. Monthly bank statements and other banking-related documents;
. Documents relating to funds transfers made by way of MoneyGram and similar
services;

FTC Petition, Exhibit 1
-3-
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Communications and agreements with people or entities that, based on records I
had reviewed, appeared to have sent money to, or received money from, one or
more of the CID recipients;

Documents relating to sales or other transactions with those people; and
Documents filed with government agencies relating to any business in which the

recipients hold at least a 25% ownership interest or for which they are an officer,
director, partner, or managing member.

Pet. Ex 2 at 7-9; Pet. Ex. 3 at 7-9.

11.

Each CID also directed the Respondent to appear and provide testimony at an

investigational hearing on March 13, 2018, in Norfolk, Virginia. The CIDs identified various

subjects that would be covered in each of the two investigational hearings, including, but not

limited to, the following:

The nature of the business conducted by Gio-Crystal and EBDM;

The identities of people, financial institutions, and other companies with which
any of the CID recipients had done business;

Transactions involving the payment or transfer of at least $500 between any of the
CID recipients and other person;

Communications between any of the CID recipients and customers and suppliers
or anyone else who had paid or received at least $500 in a transaction with any of
the CID recipients;

The nature of the relationship that the CID recipients had with anyone involved in
a transaction involving at least $500 with any of the CID recipients;

Communications between any third party and any of the CID recipients relating to
any transaction involving at least $500; and

Documents that were requested by the CID.

Pet. Ex 2 at 6-7; Pet. Ex. 3 at 6-7.

12.

The documents and information sought by these CIDs are relevant to the FTC’s

investigation because they enable the FTC to identify possible victims of scams and other

FTC Petition, Exhibit 1
-4 -
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wrongful conduct, to determine the extent of the Respondents’ involvement in the wrongful
conduct, to identify people who received funds from the Respondents, and to identify other
possible witnesses.

13.  The CIDs to Swain and Adebayo were served on February 1, 2018 by delivering
copies of the CIDs to an address known to be their residence or principal office or place of
business. This delivery was confirmed by FedEx delivery receipt. See Pet. Ex. 6 at 1-4; see also
15 U.S.C. § 57b-1(c)(9) (permitting service of a CID upon a natural person by delivering a copy
to the person or mailing to “his residence or principal office or place of business”).

The CIDs to Gio-Crystal and EBDM

14, The CIDs that were issued to Gio-Crystal, LLC (Pet. Ex. 4) and EBDM LLC (Pet.
Ex. 5) were virtually identical in substance. Each CID required the recipient to produce seven

categories of documents by February 27, 2018, including, but not limited to, the following:

. Monthly bank statements and other banking-related documents;

o Documents relating to funds transfers made by way of MoneyGram and similar
services;

. Communications and agreements with people or entities that, based on records I

had reviewed, appeared to have sent money to, or received money from, one or
more of the CID recipients;

. Documents relating to sales or other transactions with those people;
. Copies of business contracts and agreements;

o Copies of advertising and marketing material; and

J Customer lists.

Pet. EX. 4 at 6-8; Pet. Ex. 5 at 6-8.1

! Unlike the CIDs issued to Swain and Adebayo, the CIDs issued to the companies did not

include requests for testimony.

FTC Petition, Exhibit 1
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15. The documents and information sought by these CIDs are relevant to the FTC’s
investigation because they enable the FTC to identify possible victims of scams and other
wrongful conduct, to determine the extent of Respondents’ involvement in the wrongful conduct,
to identify people who received funds from the CID recipients, and to identify other possible
witnesses.

16.  The CID to Gio-Crystal was served on February 1, 2018, by delivering it to the
address listed in its Articles of Organization as its principal office and registered office. See 15
U.S.C. 8 57b-1(c)(8)(B) (permitting service of a CID upon a corporation by delivering a copy to
the “principal office or place of business™). This delivery was confirmed by FedEx delivery
receipt. See Pet. Ex. 6 at 5-6.

17. The CID to EBDM was initially sent to the address listed as the company’s
principal office in Virginia State Corporation Commission records but was returned to the FTC
as undeliverable. The CID was successfully served on EBDM on February 12, 2018 by
delivering it to Swain, the registered agent for both EBDM and Gio-Crystal, at her address in
Norfolk, Virginia. See { 5, supra; see also 15 U.S.C. § 57b-1(c)(8)(A) (permitting service of a
CID upon a corporation by delivering a copy to the corporation’s “agent”). This delivery was
confirmed by FedEx delivery receipt. See Pet. EX. 6 at 7-8.

Subsequent Communications with the Respondents

18. On February 9, 2018, I received a voicemail from a woman who identified herself
as Monshay Swain stating that she was calling about the CID.

19. On February 12, 2018, | called that telephone number and asked for Swain. The
woman who answered confirmed that she was Swain. She also told me that she had received the

CIDs that were addressed to her and to EBDM, and, in response to my question whether she had

FTC Petition, Exhibit 1
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spoken to Adebayo about the CID, stated that he knew about it. She asked what we were looking
for and what she needed to do. I responded that the CID asked her to look for documents in her
possession and control that are described in each category, and that she could make the originals
available to us or could instead provide us with copies. When | asked if she thought Adebayo
would be willing to speak with us, she said no but that she would convey the message.

20. By the February 27, 2018 deadline, however, | had received none of the records
specified by the CIDs from any of the Respondents. | attempted to contact Swain by telephone
but was unable to reach her.

21. For unrelated reasons, the FTC changed the location for the March 13
investigational hearings. On March 6, 2018, | sent letters by FedEx to Swain and Adebayo to
advise each of them that the location of the hearing had changed. Pet. Ex. 7 at 1; Pet. Ex. 8 at 1.
These letters were signed by my office’s Assistant Regional Director, Dominique Alepin, in
accordance with 16 C.F.R. § 2.7(l), and were addressed to the same address at which the CIDs
had been delivered. Delivery of both of these letters was confirmed by FedEx delivery receipt.
See Pet. Ex. 9. In addition to this delivery, | separately sent substantially identical letters to
Swain and Adebayo by first-class mail, see Pet Ex. 7 at 2; Pet Ex. 8 at 2, and | also called Swain
and left a voicemail.

22. I traveled to Norfolk, Virginia to conduct the investigational hearings. | was
present at the designated location on March 13, 2018, the date scheduled for the investigational
hearings. Neither Swain nor Adebayo appeared, and, accordingly, no testimony was given. |
attempted to reach Swain by telephone from the hearing room to confirm whether she would

appear but was unsuccessful. (I did not have a telephone number for Adebayo.)

FTC Petition, Exhibit 1
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23.  To this date, the FTC has not received any documents or information in response
to any of the CIDs. Nor have Respondents provided any statement that they lack any responsive
information.

24,  The FTC Act and the FTC’s Rules of Practice provide CID recipients an
administrative remedy by allowing them to file a petition to limit or quash a CID. See 15 U.S.C.
§ 57b-1(f); 16 C.F.R. § 2.10. None of the Respondents filed such a petition.

25, The Respondents’ non-compliance with the CIDs has burdened, delayed, and

impeded the Commission’s investigation.

[ declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed @YA,&_[_L, 2018, at Los Angeles, California.
John ﬁ Jacobs i -

Attorney
Western Region-Los Angeles
Federal Trade Commission

FTC Petition, Exhibit 1
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Petition Exhibit 2

Civil Investigative Demand to Monshay Swalin

(Jan. 25, 2018)
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Kappler, Burke

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

) &

TrackingUpdates@fedex.com
Thursday, February 01, 2018 2:30 PM

Jacobs, John D.
FedEx Shipment 771358218367 Delivered

Your package has been delivered
Tracking # 771358218367

Ship date:

Tue, 1/30/2018
Crystal McCoy-Hunter
Federal Trade
Commission
Washington, DC 20580
us

Shipment Facts

o ¢+ O

Delivered

Our records indicate that the following package has

been delivered.

Tracking number:

Status:

Purchase order
number:

Reference:
Signed for by:
Delivery location:
Delivered to:
Service type:
Packaging type:
Number of pieces:
Weight:

Special
handling/Services:

771358218367

Delivered: 02/01/2018
2:27 PM Signed for
By: D.PERKINS

0612

589284/1723080
D.PERKINS
NORFOLK, VA
Residence
FedEx 2Day
FedEx Envelope
1

0.50 Ib.

Direct Signature
Required

Deliver Weekday

1

FTC Petition, Exhibit 6

S1-

Delivery date:

Thu, 2/1/2018 2:27
pm

Monshay Swain

1439 Longdale Drive
NORFOLK, VA 23513
us


mailto:TrackingUpdates@fedex.com
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Residential Delivery

Standard transit: 2/1/2018 by 8:00 pm

[=TPlease do not respond to this message. This email was sent from an unattended mailbox. This
report was generated at approximately 1:29 PM CST on 02/01/2018.

All weights are estimated.

To track the latest status of your shipment, click on the tracking number above.

Standard transit is the date and time the package is scheduled to be delivered by, based on the
selected service, destination and ship date. Limitations and exceptions may apply. Please see the
FedEx Service Guide for terms and conditions of service, including the FedEx Money-Back
Guarantee, or contact your FedEx Customer Support representative.

© 2018 Federal Express Corporation. The content of this message is protected by copyright and
trademark laws under U.S. and international law. Review our privacy policy. All rights reserved.

Thank you for your business.

2
FTC Petition, Exhibit 6
2.
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Kappler, Burke

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

) &

TrackingUpdates@fedex.com

Thursday, February 01, 2018 2:29 PM
Jacobs, John D.

FedEx Shipment 771358193922 Delivered

Your package has been delivered

Tracking # 771358193922

Ship date: Delivery date:

Tue, 1/30/2018 Thu, 2/1/2018 2:27
Crystal McCoy-Hunter pm

*—o—o Q Damilare Adebayo

Federal Trade

Commission Delivered 1439 Longdale Drive
Washington, DC 20580 NORFOLK, VA 23513
us us

Shipment Facts

Our records indicate that the following package has
been delivered.

Tracking number: 771358193922

Delivered:
02/01/2018 2:27 PM
Signed for By:

Status:

D.PERKINS
Purchase order 0612
number:
Reference: 589284
Signed for by: D.PERKINS
Delivery location: NORFOLK, VA
Delivered to: Residence
Service type: FedEx 2Day

Packaging type:

Number of pieces:

Weight:

Special

handling/Services:

FedEx Envelope
1
0.50 Ib.

Direct Signature
Required

Deliver Weekday

1

FTC Petition, Exhibit 6
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Residential Delivery

Standard transit: 2/1/2018 by 8:00 pm

[=TPlease do not respond to this message. This email was sent from an unattended mailbox. This
report was generated at approximately 1:29 PM CST on 02/01/2018.

All weights are estimated.

To track the latest status of your shipment, click on the tracking number above.

Standard transit is the date and time the package is scheduled to be delivered by, based on the
selected service, destination and ship date. Limitations and exceptions may apply. Please see the
FedEx Service Guide for terms and conditions of service, including the FedEx Money-Back
Guarantee, or contact your FedEx Customer Support representative.

© 2018 Federal Express Corporation. The content of this message is protected by copyright and
trademark laws under U.S. and international law. Review our privacy policy. All rights reserved.

Thank you for your business.

2
FTC Petition, Exhibit 6
-4-
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Kappler, Burke

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

) &

TrackingUpdates@fedex.com
Thursday, February 01, 2018 2:30 PM

Jacobs, John D.
FedEx Shipment 771357980343 Delivered

Your package has been delivered
Tracking # 771357980343

Ship date:

Tue, 1/30/2018
Crystal McCoy-Hunter
Federal Trade
Commission
Washington, DC 20580
us

Shipment Facts

oo o+ O

Delivered

Our records indicate that the following package has

been delivered.

Tracking number:

Status:

Purchase order
number:

Reference:

Signed for by:
Delivery location:
Delivered to:
Service type:
Packaging type:
Number of pieces:
Weight:

Special
handling/Services:

771357980343

Delivered: 02/01/2018
2:27 PM Signed for
By: D.PERKINS

0612

589284/1723080
D.PERKINS
NORFOLK, VA
Residence
FedEx 2Day
FedEx Envelope
1

0.50 Ib.

Direct Signature
Required

Deliver Weekday

1

FTC Petition, Exhibit 6
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Delivery date:

Thu, 2/1/2018 2:27
pm

c/o Monshay Swain
Gio-Crystal, LLC

1439 Longdale Dr.
NORFOLK, VA 23513
us
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Residential Delivery

Standard transit: 2/1/2018 by 8:00 pm

[=TPlease do not respond to this message. This email was sent from an unattended mailbox. This
report was generated at approximately 1:29 PM CST on 02/01/2018.

All weights are estimated.

To track the latest status of your shipment, click on the tracking number above.

Standard transit is the date and time the package is scheduled to be delivered by, based on the
selected service, destination and ship date. Limitations and exceptions may apply. Please see the
FedEx Service Guide for terms and conditions of service, including the FedEx Money-Back
Guarantee, or contact your FedEx Customer Support representative.

© 2018 Federal Express Corporation. The content of this message is protected by copyright and
trademark laws under U.S. and international law. Review our privacy policy. All rights reserved.

Thank you for your business.

2
FTC Petition, Exhibit 6
-6 -
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Kappler, Burke

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

) &

TrackingUpdates@fedex.com
Monday, February 12, 2018 2:30 PM

Jacobs, John D.
FedEx Shipment 771426064195 Delivered

Your package has been delivered
Tracking # 771426064195

Ship date:

Wed, 2/7/2018
Crystal McCoy-Hunter
Federal Trade
Commission
Washington, DC 20580
us

Shipment Facts

oo o+ O

Delivered

Our records indicate that the following package has

been delivered.

Tracking number:

Status:

Door Tag number:

Purchase order
number:

Reference:
Signed for by:
Delivery location:
Delivered to:
Service type:
Packaging type:
Number of pieces:
Weight:

Special
handling/Services:

771426064195

Delivered: 02/12/2018
2:25 PM Signed for
By: D.PERKINS

DT104848150470

0612

589284/1723080
D.PERKINS
NORFOLK, VA
Residence
FedEx 2Day
FedEx Envelope
1

0.50 Ib.

Direct Signature
Required

1

FTC Petition, Exhibit 6

-7-

Delivery date:
Mon, 2/12/2018
2:25 pm

c/o Monshay Swain
EBDM LLC

1439 Longdale Drive
NORFOLK, VA 23513
us
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Deliver Weekday
Residential Delivery

Standard transit: 2/9/2018 by 8:00 pm

[=IPlease do not respond to this message. This email was sent from an unattended mailbox. This
report was generated at approximately 1:30 PM CST on 02/12/2018.

All weights are estimated.

To track the latest status of your shipment, click on the tracking number above.

Standard transit is the date and time the package is scheduled to be delivered by, based on the
selected service, destination and ship date. Limitations and exceptions may apply. Please see the
FedEx Service Guide for terms and conditions of service, including the FedEx Money-Back
Guarantee, or contact your FedEx Customer Support representative.

© 2018 Federal Express Corporation. The content of this message is protected by copyright and
trademark laws under U.S. and international law. Review our privacy policy. All rights reserved.

Thank you for your business.

2
FTC Petition, Exhibit 6
-8 -



Case 2:18-mc-00020-MSD-LRL Document 1-7 Filed 07/19/18 Page 1 of 3 PagelD# 85

Petition Exhibit 7

Letters from Dominique Alepin
to Monshay Swalin

(Mar. 6, 2018; Mar. 7, 2018)
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United States of America
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
10990 Wilshire Blvd., Ste. 400
Los Angeles, CA 90024
(310) 824-4343

March 7, 2018

By 1% Class Mail

Monshay Swain
1439 Longdale Drive
Norfolk, VA 23513

Re: FTC Matter No. 1723080
Dear Ms. Swain:

The Federal Trade Commission issued a Civil Investigative Demand (“CID”) to
you in the above-referenced matter on January 27, 2018, which you received on February
1, 2018. The CID directed you to produce documents by February 27, 2018, and to
appear for an Investigational Hearing in Norfolk, VA on March 13, 2013 at 1:00 p.m. A
copy of the CID is enclosed for your convenience.

The location of the Investigational Hearing for the testimony of Damilare
Adebayo scheduled to take place on March 13, 2018 at 1:00 p.m. has been changed. You
are now compelled to appear at:

WHERE: Zahn Reporting at 208 East Plume Street, Ste 214, Norfolk, VA 23510
WHEN: March 13, 2018 at 1pm

To date, we have not received any of the documents that you were directed to
produce.

Please contact me at 310-824-4360 if you have any objections or questions.
Sincerely,

c;‘_xzyﬁm_ Q‘\_WL ——

John D. Jacobs
Attorney

Enclosure

FTC Petition, Exhibit 7
2.
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Petition Exhibit 8

Letters from Dominique Alepin
to Damilare Adebayo

(Mar. 6, 2018; Mar. 7, 2018)
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United States of America
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
10990 Wilshire Blvd., Ste. 400
Los Angeles, CA 90024
(310) 824-4343

March 7, 2018

By 1% Class Mail

Damilare Adebayo
1439 Longdale Drive
Norfolk, VA 23513

Re: FTC Matter No. 1723080
Dear Mr. Adebayo:

The Federal Trade Commission issued a Civil Investigative Demand (“CID”) to
you in the above-referenced matter on January 27, 2018, which you received on February
1, 2018. The CID directed you to produce documents by February 27, 2018, and to
appear for an Investigational Hearing in Norfolk, VA on March 13, 2013 at 8:30 a.m. A
copy of the CID is enclosed for your convenience.

The location of the Investigational Hearing for testimony of Damilare Adebayo
scheduled to take place on March 13, 2018 at 8:30 a.m. has been changed. You are now
compelled to appear at:

WHERE: Zahn Reporting at 208 East Plume Street, Ste 214, Norfolk, VA 23510
WHEN: March 13, 2018 at 8:30 a.m.

To date, we have not received any of the documents that you were directed to
produce.

Please contact me at 310-824-4360 if you have any objections or questions.
Sincerely,

c;‘_xzyﬁm_ Q‘\_WL ——

John D. Jacobs
Attorney

Enclosure

FTC Petition, Exhibit 8
2.
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Petition Exhibit 9

FedEx Delivery Confirmations
for March 6, 2018, Letters
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Kappler, Burke

From: TrackingUpdates@fedex.com

Sent: Wednesday, March 07, 2018 3:24 PM

To: Jacobs, John D.

Subject: FedEx Shipment 771737104820 Delivered

Your package has been delivered

) &

Tracking # 771737104820

Ship date: Delivery date:
Tue, 3/6/2018 Wed, 3/7/2018
Libby Holton 3:19 pm

Federal Trade
Commission

Los Angeles, CA 90024
us

Shipment Facts

® ® L 4 9 Monshay Swain

1439 Longdale Drive
NORFOLK, VA 23513
us

Delivered

Our records indicate that the following package has

been delivered.

Tracking number:

Status:

Purchase order
number:

Reference:

Signed for by:

Delivery location:
Delivered to:

Service type:

Packaging type:
Number of pieces:

Weight:

771737104820

Delivered:
03/07/2018 3:19 PM
Signed for By:
Signature not
required

1684

Document

Signature not
required

NORFOLK, VA
Residence

FedEx Standard
Overnight

FedEx Envelope
1

0.50 Ib.

1

FTC Petition, Exhibit 9
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Special Deliver Weekday
handling/Services:

Residential Delivery

Standard transit: 3/7/2018 by 8:00 pm

TPlease do not respond to this message. This email was sent from an unattended mailbox. This
report was generated at approximately 2:23 PM CST on 03/07/2018.

All weights are estimated.

To track the latest status of your shipment, click on the tracking number above.

Standard transit is the date and time the package is scheduled to be delivered by, based on the
selected service, destination and ship date. Limitations and exceptions may apply. Please see the
FedEx Service Guide for terms and conditions of service, including the FedEx Money-Back
Guarantee, or contact your FedEx Customer Support representative.

© 2018 Federal Express Corporation. The content of this message is protected by copyright and
trademark laws under U.S. and international law. Review our privacy policy. All rights reserved.

Thank you for your business.

2
FTC Petition, Exhibit 9
2.
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Kappler, Burke

From: TrackingUpdates@fedex.com

Sent: Wednesday, March 07, 2018 3:23 PM

To: Jacobs, John D.

Subject: FedEx Shipment 771737138667 Delivered

Your package has been delivered

) &

Tracking # 771737138667

Ship date: Delivery date:
Tue, 3/6/2018 Wed, 3/7/2018
Libby Holton 3:19 pm

Federal Trade
Commission

Los Angeles, CA 90024
us

Shipment Facts

*—o—o Q Damilare Adebayo

1439 Longdale Drive
NORFOLK, VA 23513
us

Delivered

Our records indicate that the following package has

been delivered.

Tracking number:

Status:

Purchase order
number:

Reference:

Signed for by:

Delivery location:
Delivered to:

Service type:

Packaging type:
Number of pieces:

Weight:

771737138667

Delivered:
03/07/2018 3:19 PM
Signed for By:
Signature not
required

1684

Letter

Signature not
required

NORFOLK, VA
Residence

FedEx Standard
Overnight

FedEx Envelope
1

0.50 Ib.

1

FTC Petition, Exhibit 9
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Special Deliver Weekday
handling/Services:

Residential Delivery

Standard transit: 3/7/2018 by 8:00 pm

TPlease do not respond to this message. This email was sent from an unattended mailbox. This
report was generated at approximately 2:23 PM CST on 03/07/2018.

All weights are estimated.

To track the latest status of your shipment, click on the tracking number above.

Standard transit is the date and time the package is scheduled to be delivered by, based on the
selected service, destination and ship date. Limitations and exceptions may apply. Please see the
FedEx Service Guide for terms and conditions of service, including the FedEx Money-Back
Guarantee, or contact your FedEx Customer Support representative.

© 2018 Federal Express Corporation. The content of this message is protected by copyright and
trademark laws under U.S. and international law. Review our privacy policy. All rights reserved.

Thank you for your business.

2
FTC Petition, Exhibit 9
-4-
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The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as
provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the
purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

. (@) PLAINTIFFS DEFENDANTS

Federal Trade Commission Monshay Swain, Damilare Adebayo, Gio-Crystal, LLC, and

EBDM LLC

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant
(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
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(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)
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(C) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Attorneys (If Known)
Clare P. Wuerker, Assistant United States Attorney
One World Trade Center, Suite 8000

101 W. Main Street, Norfolk, VA 23510 (757) 441-6331

I1. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X” in One Box Only) I1l. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff
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Foreign Country
IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X” in One Box Only) Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
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3 151 Medicare Act [ 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 3 830 Patent 3 450 Commerce
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3 220 Foreclosure 0 441 Voting 3 463 Alien Detainee or Defendant) O 899 Administrative Procedure
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3 240 Torts to Land 3 443 Housing/ Sentence 26 USC 7609 Agency Decision
[ 245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations 3 530 General 3 950 Constitutionality of
0 290 All Other Real Property 0 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - | O 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION State Statutes
Employment Other: 0 462 Naturalization Application
O 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - | O 540 Mandamus & Other | 465 Other Immigration
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V. ORIGIN (Place an “X”” in One Box Only)
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Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):
15 U.S.C. Section 57-b-1

Brief description of cause:
Petition for Order to Show Cause
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VII. REQUESTED IN (0 CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:
COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P. JURY DEMAND: 0 Yes XNo
VIIl. RELATED CASE(S) ( )
See instructions):
IF ANY JUDGE DOCKET NUMBER
DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD
07/18/2018 /sl Clare P. Wuerker
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE




35 44 Reverse @@S€12:18-mc-00020-MSD-LRL Document 1-10 Filed 07/19/18 Page 2 of 2 PagelD# 97

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44
Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as
required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is
required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of
Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

l.(@) Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use
only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and
then the official, giving both name and title.

(b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the
time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land
condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)

(c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting
in this section "(see attachment)".

1. Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X"
in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.
United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.
United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.
Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.
Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section 111 below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity
cases.)

I11.  Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this
section for each principal party.

IV.  Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code
that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.

V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.
Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.
Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.
When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.
Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing
date.
Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or
multidistrict litigation transfers.
Multidistrict Litigation — Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C.
Section 1407.
Multidistrict Litigation — Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.
PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to
changes in statue.

VI.  Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

VII.  Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.
Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.
Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIIl. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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